IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WINDELL WASHINGTON, APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, APPELLEE

CAUSE NO. 2009-KA-00947-SCT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Latrice Westbrooks, Esq.
Mississippi Bar No.
The Law Office of Latrice Westbrooks, PLLC 5269 Keele Street, Suite B (39206)
Post Office Box 14203
Jackson, Mississippi 39236
601-982-7884 (telephone)
601-982-7889 (facsimile)

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED A PREJUDICIAL PHOTOGRAPH TO BE ADMITTED FOR IDENTIFICATION PURPOSES WHEN THE DEFENDANT DID NOT CONTEST IDENTIFICATION OF THE DECEASED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

¶1. The Appellant seeks to reverse the verdict finding him guilty of Manslaughter. The Holmes County Circuit Court sentenced the defendant on May 22, 2008 to twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

A. Procedural History

¶2. The Appellant appeals the verdict and sentence rendered in the Holmes County Circuit Court. The Appellant was indicted on January 8, 2007 by a Holmes County Grand Jury. On February 5, 2007, the Defendant waived arraignment and received a trial date of May 7, 2007. For reasons not stated in the record, the matter was reset for October 15, 2007. Due to the Court's docket, the matter came up for trial on October 17, 2007. A mistrial was had for failure to select a jury due to an insufficient amount of juror in the jury panel. The matter was reset for May 12, 2008. The trial commenced on May 12, 2008 with both parties announcing their readiness for trial. On May 13, 2008, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty of Aggravated Assault and guilty of Manslaughter. The Defendant was sentenced on May 22, 2008. On May 30, 2008, the undersigned filed a notice of appeal with the Holmes

County Circuit Clerk and hence brings forth this appeal.

B. Substantive Facts

house.

- On July 23, 2006, Windell went to the town square in Lexington, Mississippi and ¶3. parked in front of Thurman's Hardware Store at approximately 7:00 P.M. He went there to speak with Patricia Gibson, his girlfriend who with another man, Anthony Collins. Collins was having an extra-marital affair with Gibson. When Windell pulled up he and Patricia started talking. Windell learned that Patricia brought Anthony to his house. Anthony intervened in the conversation and began a verbal confrontation with Windell. Anthony came at Windell once, Patricia managed to stop him. At that time Windell pulled out his gun and placed it on the car floor. Windell remained inside his truck, he never stepped outside. After Pat managed to control Anthony Collins the first time, Windell and Pat started ¶4. talking again. A witness, Angela Thomas, testified that the conversation involved Patricia and Windell. Once again Anthony Collins intervened in the conversation antagonizing Windell. Anthony then bolted around Pat reached into the back of his pocket. Windell noticed that Anthony had his hands in his pocket and acted as though he had a weapon in them. Anthony went towards Windell, who reached for his gun and shot Anthony Collins three times. When Anthony Collins fell to the ground Windell drove off and went to his
- ¶5. When Windell went to his home he told his daughter Windella he had to turn himself in. Once he told her he was going to turn himself in he went to look for his neighbor Sam

The pathologist Steven Haynes noted that the way the shots entered the body, the decedent was leaning. (T.Rec. 165-166, ln 28-29/1-6; 169, ln 11-18 166, 169); Angela Thomas also testified to Anthony "came at" Washington. (T.Rec. 235, ln 4-5; 242, ln 10-12).

Chambers. When he noticed that Sam was not at home he called the Sheriff and he turned himself in. Windell was arrested, charged and indicted for the offenses.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

¶6. The Holmes County Circuit Court did abuse its discretion during the trial. The Court allowed prejudicial and inflammatory photographs of the deceased into evidence. The photographs had no probative value as the defendant did not contest the identification of the defendant. In the wake of this issue, Appellant/Defendant Windell Washington requests that the matter be reversed and remanded back to the Circuit Court.

ARGUMENT

- I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED A PREJUDICIAL PHOTOGRAPH TO BE ADMITTED FOR IDENTIFICATION PURPOSES WHEN THE DEFENDANT DID NOT CONTEST IDENTIFICATION OF THE DECEASED?
- ¶7. Dr. Steven Haynes testified for the state as the medical examiner. The State through his testimony, offered into evidence, autopsy photographs of the deceased, Anthony Collins. State's exhibits numbers S-2-A1, S-2-B and S-2-C covered the photographs of the decedent. S-2-C showed the face of the deceased. The photograph depicted a swollen eyes cheeks, and lips that looked deformed. (Rec.Ex. A, S-2-A1).
- ¶8. The standard of review that appellate courts must apply to admission of evidence is an abuse of discretion. *Price v. State*, 898 So.2d 641 (Miss. 2005). The admission of photographs is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. . .photographs are considered to have evidentiary value in the following instances: (1) aid in describing the

circumstances of the killing; (2) describe the location of the body and cause of death; (3) supplement or clarify witness testimony. *Williams v. State of Mississippi*, 3 So.2d 105 (Miss. 2009) citing *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298 (Miss. 1993) and *McIntosh v. State*, 917 So.2d 78 (Miss. 2005).

- ¶9. The Court has also noted with regard to admission of autopsy photographs are only admissible if they have probative value. *Roden v. State*, 1998 Miss.App. LEXIS 181 citing *Noe*, 616 So.2d at 303. In the case of photographic evidence it is especially important that the photographs not be so gruesome or used in such a way as to be overly inflammatory or prejudicial. *Hurns v. State*, 616 So. 2d 313, 319 (Miss. 1993). The indiscriminate use of autopsy photographs showing where "a medical technician or pathologist has used the tools of his trade to puncture, sever, dissect and otherwise traumatize body parts" is discouraged. *Noe*, 616 So. 2d at 303. Gruesome photographs like the solitary instance of photographs being [sic] prejudicial involving a close-up photograph of a partly decomposed, maggotinfested skull. *Williams citing McNeal v. State*, 551 So.2d 151 (Miss. 1989).
- ¶10. Washington objected to Dr. Haynes identification of Collins via the use of autopsy photographs. (T.rec. 160). The objection was based on the contention that the photographs were prejudicial and that Dr. Haynes was not the proper witness to identify the deceased. (T.rec. 160-161). *McDavid v. State*, 594 So.2d 12, 15 (Miss. 1992). No other witnesses were used to identify Collins. There was nothing in S-2-C that aided the jury with regard to the injuries. It did not aid the description of the killing and the corpus delicti; or describe the location of the body and cause of death; or supplement or clarify another witnesses testimony. *Jackson v. State*, 766 So.2d 795 (Miss.Ct.App. 2000). Moreover, because the

Collins's face was swollen and contorted, it was not logical that Haynes could identify Collins. The proper predicate was not established allowing Haynes to testify to the defendant's identity.

CONCLUSION

¶11. Appellant respectfully prays that this Court reverse the verdict of the Holmes

County jury on the offense of Manslaughter and remand the case back to the Holmes

County Circuit Court. The Appellant also request any relief under the principals of law

and equity to which he may be entitled.