## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# WINDELL WASHINGTON

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-KA-0947-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

# **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

# JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

### **PROCEDURAL HISTORY:**

On May 11, 2008, Mr. Windell Washington, "Washington" was tried for murder of Mr. Anthony Collins and aggravated assault of Ms. Patricia Gibson before a Holmes County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Jannie M. Lewis presiding. R. 1. Washington was found guilty of manslaughter. He was sentenced to a twenty year sentence in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. R. 320; 374.

On May 30, 2008, Washington filed notice of appeal to the Supreme Court. C.P. 73.

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

# I. WAS THE ADMISSION OF AN AUTOPSY PHOTOGRAPH SHOWING THE DECEDENT'S FACE PREJUDICIAL?

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 9, 2007, Washington was indicted for murder of Mr. Anthony Collins and the aggravated assault of Ms. Patricia Gibson on July 23, 2006 by a Holmes County Grand jury. C.P. 4.

On May 12, 2008, Washington was tried for the murder of Mr. Anthony Collins before a Holmes County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Jannie M. Lewis presiding. R. 1. He was represented by Ms. Latrice Westbrooks. R. 1

On July 23, 2006, Washington went in his truck to down town Lexington, Mississippi. Washington went to the Lexington town square to speak to his former girlfriend, Ms. Patricia Gibson. He found her sitting in her car. Sitting nearby in their separate cars were Ms. Angela Thomas, a friend of Patricia's, and the decedent Mr. Anthony Collins. They were talking to each other from their respective cars. Washington drove past their cars slowly, and then left.

Washington returned and stopped behind Gibson's car. Washington then asked Patricia, "Why did you take that nigger by my house?" R. 229. Patricia tried to explain that she had gotten her grandchild up the street from his house. R. 229.

Mr. Anthony Collins told Washington to stop arguing with Patricia. R. 229. He and Washington had harsh words for each other. R. 230. When Collins got out of his car and moved toward Washington's truck, Washington pulled out a handgun. He shot him six times, a projectile also struck Patricia in the leg. R. 235. Ms. Thomas called 911. R. 236.

On July 27, 2006, Dr. Stephen Hayne performed an autopsy of the decedent, Mr Anthony Collins. R. 147-173. Dr. Hayne testified that Collins died from gun shot wounds to his right chest. R. 149. It was found to be "a homicide." R. 150. During his testimony, photographs of the deceased were introduced into evidence. R. 160-161. Among those photographs was S-2-C which included the face of the alleged victim. R.158-162 ; C.P. 44. The defense objected to the introduction of the photographs on the basis of it being prejudicial since it allegedly showed the swollen face of the decedent. R. 160-162.

See autopsy photographic images contained in the court papers. C.P. 43-46. The photographs were both black and white and multi-colored.

The trial court found that the state's photographic evidence taken during the autopsy were more probative than prejudicial. R. 160-161.

The trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict. R. 252.

Mr. Washington testified in his own behalf. R. 253-267. Washington testified that we went to the square to check on a grandchild. R. 254. He allegedly tried "to discuss the situation" with Patricia, his ex- girl friend. However, Mr. Collins allegedly angrily interfered with the conversation. When Collins got out of the car allegedly with his hand in his pocket, Washington testified that he feared for his life. R. 255. He testified that he fired only three shots toward Collins. He testified that he voluntarily turned himself in to the Lexington police after the shooting.

On cross examination, Washington did not remember either using the "nigger" word in referring to Collins, or going home looking for his handgun. R. 261-267. On cross examination, Collins also did not know how the decedent received six gunshots and Patricia Gibson, his ex-girl friend, received one shot. R. 265. He claimed to have allegedly fired only "three shots."

Washington was found guilty of manslaughter and given a twenty year sentence in the

custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. R. 320; 374.

On May 30, 2008, Washington filed notice of appeal to the Supreme Court. C.P. 73.

.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The record reflects that the trial court found that the autopsy photographs were "more probative than prejudicial." R. 160-161. The record reflects that the autopsy photographs were used to describe the location of the "entrance" and "exit" wounds to the body of the decedent. One of them was a faithful representation of the face of the decedent at the autopsy. R. 162-163. It also showed two bullet wounds to the left arm. R. 153-154.

These photographs were used to supplement the testimony of Dr. Hayne. Dr. Hayne testified that the cause of death was a lethal gun shot wound. This was a lethal shot or shots to the chest of the decedent, Mr. Anthony Collins. R. 149-150. In addition, the photographs were used as evidence for the number of shots that were fired. There were six. R. 149; 235.

The record reflects that while Washington admitted to firing his weapon, he claimed to have shot only three times. R. 265. The autopsy photographs supplemented the testimony of Ms. Thomas, an eye and ear witness to the shooting. Thomas, who was present with the victims when shots were fired, testified that "about five or six" shots were fired. R. 235. She was talking with Ms. Patricia Gibson , who had a baby in her arms , and Mr. Collins. There were in downtown Lexington when the incident at issue occurred. Ms. Gibson was shot in the leg at the same time Mr. Collins was shot six times.

The record reflects that the handgun used by Washington was not recovered. R. 188 ;193. The testimony and exhibits also indicated that decedent was morbidly obese. C.P. 59.

5

#### **PROPOSITION I**

# PHOTOGRAPHIC EVIDENCE FROM THE AUTOPSY WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AS RELEVANT AND MATERIAL TO THE CAUSE OF DEATH, AS WELL AS TO SHOWING THE NUMBER AND LOCATION OF THE GUN SHOT WOUNDS TO THE DECEDENT.

Washington argues that the trial court erred in admitting photographic evidence from the autopsy performed by Dr. Steven Hayne. He argues that there was no need for a photograph showing the alleged swollen face of the decedent, Anthony Collins. He believes that this photograph was gruesome and inflamed the passions of the jury against him. It was also not needed since he was not contesting the identity of the decedent but rather the circumstances under which he had died. Appellant's brief page 1-5.

To the contrary, the record reflects that the trial court found that photograph evidence, which included S-2-A was more probative than prejudicial. R. 160-161. The testimony indicated that the photos were a fair, accurate and true representations of the bullet wounds received by the decedent, Mr. Collins. R. 163-164. The testimony was also that the photograph S-2-A "truly and accurately represented" the decedent's facial features at the time of the autopsy. R. 162-163. It also showed bullet wounds to the victim's upper left arm. R. 153-154.

As stated by the prosecution, the photographs show "entrance" and "exit" wounds on the body of the decedent, Mr. Collins.

Waldrup: S-2-C, your Honor, it shows two bullet wounds to the chest. This is an exit wound. One of these is an entrance wound to the arm. The other is an exit wound. That's two bullet holes to the leg. And maybe two to the arm. Every one of them is a different bullet hole. It's an exit wound. R. 158-159.

Dr. Steven Hayne testified to doing the autopsy on the decedent, Mr. Collins. R.149. He testified that the cause of death was two lethal gun shot wounds to his right chest. R. 149-150. These bullet wounds penetrated his "lung," "liver," "diaphragm" and "colon."

#### Q. And what was the cause of death?

A. The two lethal gunshot wounds struck the chest. One struck the chest at a point 19 inches below the top of the head. The other gunshot wound struck the decedent also in the right chest at a point 20 and one half inches below the top of the head. Both bullets traveled markedly downward. Both bullets went through the diaphragm, also, went through the liver, and each bullet also perforated the colon. R. 149-150.

Dr. Hayne also testified that the picture of the decedent's face was an accurate depiction of

its appearance at the time of the autopsy. He also testified that it also showed another bullet wound

to the left arm. They were traveling from the back of the arm to the front. R. 153-154.

In addition, the autopsy report also indicated that Mr. Collins was "morbid obesity, severe"

for a man his height. C.P. 59.

Q. In regard to S-2-A, what is that a photograph of, or photographs of?

A. Showing a picture of the decedent, it appears after the post-mortem examination has been performed.

Q. As far as his facial features?

A. It shows his general facial features and the image is the two large ones were taken from the left side of the decedent.

Q. And as far as the facial features go on S-2 A, does that photograph truly and accurately represent his facial features at the time you performed your autopsy?

A. It does, counselor. R. 162-163. (Emphasis by appellee)

Q. Yes, sir, S-2-C. What is that a photograph of?

A. Shows a, shows two gunshot wounds of one image. I believe, counselor, that one of them is the gunshot wound—uh–I can't tell the one, counselor. I don't have enough of the image to locate it. It's near one nipple, but I can't determine where that is.

Q. Would you mind marking or signing your name on the one you cannot tell, Dr. Hayne?

A. And two other images show entrance gunshot wounds to the front of the right arm,

exit gunshot wound to the upper right arm, and there's a a third image showing entrance gunshot wound to the back.

Q. Dr. Hayne, with the exception of the one photograph you couldn't tell, do all of these, do S-2-A, S-2-B, S-2-C fairly, accurately, and truly represent the wounds that you just testified to?

A. Yes, counselor. R. 163-164. (Emphasis by appellee).

The trial court found that the photograph was more probative than prejudicial:

Court: Okay. In that the photographs are being offered to show the location of the wounds and the ID of the person with the state saying they intend to delete the medical intervention on the photograph for identification, the Court finds that the probative value outweighs the prejudicial effect and the photographs will be admitted. R. 160-161. (Emphasis by appellee).

Washington testified in his own defense. R. 253-269. He testified that he only fired three

shots. R. 265. He also did not know how Ms. Gibson was also shot at that time.

### Q. You shot three times?

A. Yeah.

# Q. Okay. So how he got six bullets in him, you don't know, and how Patricia got one in her, you don't know.

A. Yes, sir. I don't. R. 265. (Emphasis by appellee).

Ms. Angela Thomas, an eye and ear witness, testified that she thought there were "about five

or six" shots fired.

#### Q. Now, do you know how many shots Windell fired?

A. I'd say about five or six. I'm not for sure. R. 235. (Emphasis by appellee).

In Hurns v. State 616 So. 2d 313, 319 (Miss. 1993), the Supreme Court found that the the

trial court did not err in admitting photographs of the decedent. They were relevant for showing the extent of the decedent's injuries and the cause of his death.

The Court in Sudduth, however, went on to say that photographs of bodies may nevertheless be admitted into evidence in criminal cases where they have probative value and where they are not so gruesome or used in such a way as to be overly prejudicial or inflammatory. Davis, 551 So.2d at 173; Griffin v. State, 504 So.2d 186, 191 (Miss. 1987); Miss. R. Evid. 403; Sudduth, 562 So.2d at 70. In the case at bar, the photo in question, State's exhibit 11, may indeed appear somewhat gruesome, but the photo clearly had probative value in that it served to illustrate to the jury the exact extent of the damage which caused Anderson's death. Bearing in mind that Hurns attempted to show that the cause of death could not be attributed to a single blow or numerous blows, and since different individuals participated in striking the deceased, it would be extremely difficult to single out Hurns alone as creating the blow or blows which caused the death of Anderson. The photograph was not introduced in an inflammatory manner but instead was introduced during Dr. Hayne's explanation to the jury in scientific terms the cause of death. The photograph clearly corroborates the testimony of Dr. Hayne that a blow or blows to the head resulted in the death of Anderson.

In Gardner v. State, 573 So. 2d 716, 718 (Miss. 1990), the court found that the trial court

did not abuse its discretion even though they were "not pleasant" to observe. The court found that

they were relevant to assisting the jury in their deliberations. They were given instructions for both

aggravated and simple assault.

Of course, the decision regarding the admission of photographs is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed by us absent a showing that the trial court abused its discretion in reaching its decision. **Sudduth v. State**, 562 So. 67, 69 (Miss. 1990)..."The mere fact that photographs depict an unpleasant or gruesome scene is no bar to their admission if they are relevant." **Lanier v. State**, 533 So. 2d 473, 484 (Miss. 1988)...We have reviewed the photographs admitted into evidence in this case and, while not pleasant, they do not rise to the gruesomeness of those in **McNeal**. Further unlike the **McNeal** photographs, the introduction of the photographs in this case were not only relevant, but absolutely necessary to aid the jury in its decision of whether the assault with fists constituted aggravated assault or simple assault. On the basis of the record before us, we hold that the trial court did not err in admitting the photographs into evidence.

The appellee would submit that the record cited indicates the photographs from the autopsy,

including the photograph showing the face of the decedent, were probative for showing the cause

of death, the number of times the victim was shot and in what location, as well as the appearance of

the victim at the time of the autopsy.

The jury was given instructions for murder as well as manslaughter. The appellee believes we have cited sufficient evidence for showing that the photographs were relevant and material. They assisted the jury in their deliberations.

The appellee would submit that we have cited sufficient record evidence for showing that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. These photographs provided corroboration for contradicting the testimony of Washington. Washington denied knowing how the victim received six gun shot wounds. Nor did he know how Ms. Gibson was shot at the same time in the leg. She was shot while holding a baby in her arms. R. 236. This was the same grand baby Washington claimed he was trying to protect. R. 256. He did not want the unarmed victim near his grandchild or his house.

The appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

10

## **CONCLUSION**

Washington's manslaughter conviction should be affirmed for the reasons cited in this brief.